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IN THE GRAND COURT OF THE CAYMAN ISLANDS
FINANCIAL SERVICES DIVISION

BETWEEN:
RENOVA RESOURCES PRIVATE EQUITY LIMITED
(A company incorporated in the Bahamas suing as shareholder of the Second
Defendant, Pallinghurst (Cayman) General Partner LP (GP) Limited)
Plaintiff
AND
1) BRIAN PATRICK GILBERTSON
) PALLINGHURST (CAYMAN) GENERAL PARTNER LP (GP)
3) PALLINGHURST (CAYMAN) GENERAL PARTNER LP
4 PALLINGHURST RESOURCES MANAGEMENT LP
8) AUTUMN HOLDINGS ASSET INC.
Defendants
(By Original Action)
AND BETWEEN:
03] BRIAN PATRICK GILBERTSON
) AUTUMN HOLDINGS ASSET INC
Plaintiffs to Counterclaim
AND
1) VIKTOR VEKSELBERG
) VLADIMIR VIKTOROVICH KUZNETSOV
3) RENOVA HOLDING LIMITED
@ RENOVA RESOURCES PRIVATE EQUITY LIMITED
Defendants to Counterclaim
(By Counterclaim)
Coram: The Hon. Mr. Justice Angus Foster, QC
Appearances: Mr. Alain Choo-Choy QC of the English Bar and Mr. Graeme Halkerston
and Mr. David Butler of Appleby for the Applicants (First and Fifth
Defendants /Plaintiffs to Counterclaim)
Mr. Richard Millett QC of the English Bar and Mr, James Eldridge and
Mr. Marc Kish of Maples and Calder for the Respondents
(Plaintiff/Defendants to Counterclaim)
Heard: On 5™ 6th, 7" 8" July 2011

RULING (4)
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1.

2.

RULING (4)

This is an application by the First and Fifth Defendants/Plaintiffs to Counterclaim, (who I
shall refer to together as appropriate as either “the Applicants” or “the Gilbertson
Parties”), by summons dated 27" April 2011 for orders that the Plaintiff’s writ and
statement of claim and the defences to the counterclaim be struck out pursuant to GCR
0.24, 120 and/or the inherent jurisdiction of the Court. I shall refer to the
Plaintiff/Defendants to the counterclaim together as appropriate as either “the
Respondents” or “the Renova Parties”. The Applicants’ summons also seeks the costs of
the action and the counterclaim against the Respondents on the indemnity basis and such
other relief as the Court may think fit in respect of the Applicants’ application, which is

based on alleged failures by the Respondents to comply with their discovery obligations.

During the course of these proceedings the Court has made several orders in relation to
discovery as follows:
1) On 20 July 2010 the Court gave directions (“the 20 July Order”) inter alia as

follows:

1) The parties shall exchange Lists of Documents no later than 12pm on
17 September 2010:

2) There shall be inspection of documents (some of which may be subject
to a confidentiality regime) no later than 4pm on 24 September 2010.

2) On 30 November 2010 the Court ordered (“the 30 November Order”) as
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follows:

Each of the Plaintiff/Defendants to the Counterclaim shall prepare and
serve a Further and Better List of Documents by 4pm on 18 January
2011, such list to identify all relevant documents (and for the avoidance
of doubt such documents must include inter alia (whether in hard copy
or electronic form on any computer, server, laptop or handheld device
of any kind wherever they may be) memos, notes of meetings and
discussions including telephone conversations and emails or other data
sent to or from any email address used by any of the
Plaintiff/Defendants to Counterclaim or, in the case of a corporate
party, by any of the beneficial owners, directors, officers or employees
or anyone else on its behalf, which relate in any way to the matters in
question in this action and including the Letter Agreement, the
Pallinghurst Structure, Project Egg or the acquisition of the Faberge
Rights) which are or have been in the possession, custody or power of

that Plaintiff/Defendants to the Counterclaim,

Each Further and Better List shall be verified by affidavit, in the case of
individual parties, by that individual personally and, in respect of
corporate parties, by a director of the company who shall be attending

to give evidence at the trial of the Cause,

The Plaintiff/Defendants to Counterclaim must each forthwith take all
steps necessary to preserve all computers, servers, back-up tapes,
handheld electronic devices or other means of transmilting or receiving
data and all or any data in their possession, custody or power which
they are advised by Maples & Calder may be relevant which is held or
stored on or by any such or similar means in any jurisdiction

whatsoever until the conclusion of the claim or further order. For this

Page 3 of 66



o~ N U b L N

10
11
12
13
14

15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

26
27

purpose, the individual Defendants to Counterclaim (Viktor Vekselberg
and Vladimir Viktorovich Kuzhnetsov) must ensure compliance with this
order personally and through any others (including any other members
of the Renova Group) acting on their behalf; and the corporate Plaintiff
and Defendants to Counterclaim (Renova Holding Limited and Renova
Resources Private Equity Limited) must comply with this order by their
respective beneficial owners, officers, employees, agents and anyone on

their behalf, including other members of the Renova Group;,

The partner in Maples and Calder with conduct of this case on behalf of
the Plaintiff/Defendants to the Counterclaim shall serve at the time of
service of each of the Further and Better Lists of Documents mentioned
at paragraph 1 above an affidavit explaining the precise steps taken by
each of the Plaintiff/Defendants to the Counterclaim in compliance with

this Order and when, where and how such steps were taken;

The Plaintiff/Defendants to Counterclaim must each provide a detailed
log (with technical assistance if necessary, such assistance to be
specifically identified) of all computers, servers, back-up tapes,
handheld electronic devices or other means of transmitting or receiving
data referred to at paragraph 3 above, identifying precisely the nature,
medium (whether encrypted or unencrypted) and the exact location and
custodian of the same and the data which is or was thereon which they
have been advised by Maples & Calder may be relevant and such log
must be exhibited in each case to the affidavit sworn in verification of
each of the Further and Better Lists of the Plaintiff/Defendants to

Counterclaim as mentioned at paragraph 2 above;

There be a case management conference in mid February 2011 to be

fixed by the parties no later than 17 December 2010,
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7. Liberty to apply for further or other directions on proper notice to every

other party;

8. The costs of and occasioned by the Summons of the First and Fifth
Defendants/Plaintiffs to the Counterclaim dated 5 November 2010 be
paid by the Plaintiff/Defendants to the Counterclaim, such costs to be

taxed if not agreed.

That order included a Penal Notice.

3.)) On 7 April 2011 the Court ordered (“the 7 April Order”) that the individual
Renova Parties, Mr. Viktor Vekselberg, and Mr. Vladimir Kuznetsov, should
comply with the precise terms of the 30 November Order (i.e. to verify by
affidavit sworn personally their respective Further and Better Lists of Documents

no later than 21 April 2011).

3. The Applicants contend that the Renova Parties have failed to comply with their
discovery obligations generally, including the terms of the 30 November Order, and that
as a result there is a substantial risk that a fair trial of the original action and of the
counterclaim is not possible. They submit that accordingly the original action and the
Defences to the Counterclaim should be struck out pursuant to GCR 0.24, r.20 and/or

pursuant to the inherent jurisdiction of the Court.
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Background

4. The background to the Renova Parties’ claims against the Gilbertson Parties was set out in

some detail in my initial Ruling dated 14 April 2009 and summarized again, more briefly,
in my Ruling (3) dated 5 May 2010. Although I do not consider it necessary for present
purposes to reiterate all of the details as set out in those Rulings, nonetheless in order to
address the questions concerning discovery which are the subject of this application I
should, at the risk of repeating what I have already said before in these proceedings,
explain at least the general background and the principal issues in the case. The original
action is a derivative action, indeed a “multiple derivative action”, brought by Renova

Resources Private Equity Limited, (““the Plaintiff””), one of the corporate Renova Parties.

5 The Plaintiff is a member of the Renova Group of companies, which is ultimately

controlled by one of the individual Renova Parties, Mr. Vekselberg. The Renova Group is
one of Russia’s leading private conglomerates. It comprises a considerable number of
companies with significant investments in various sectors, including inter alia oil, metals,
mining and construction in various countries. Although Mr. Vekselberg and others are
based in Moscow, the Group has significant offices in Zurich, Switzerland. The
Investment Director of the management company of the Renova Group is one of the
individual Renova Parties, Mr. Kuznetsov, who is based in Zurich. The Chief Legal
Officer of the Renova Group management company is Mr. Igor Cheremikin, who is based
in Moscow, and the Deputy Chief Legal Officer is Mr. David Kalberer, a Swiss lawyer,
who is also based in Zurich. I should also mention for convenience at this point,

Mr. Sergey Grosset who is the head of the IT Department of the Renova Group
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Management company, based in Moscow. I shall, in the course of this ruling, refer to other
individuals employed by or connected with the Renova Group but these are the principal

individuals for these purposes.

6 The Plaintiff’s claims in the original action are directed at the Gilbertson Parties, namely
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Mr. Brian Gilbertson and a British Virgin Islands company, Autumn Holdings Asset Inc.
(“Autumn”) which is ultimately a Gilbertson family entity. The Cayman Islands
company, Pallinghurst (Cayman) General Partner LP (GP) (“the Company”), on whose
behalf the original action purports to be brought by the Plaintiff is owned as to 50%
indirectly by the Plaintiff and as to 50% indirectly by Mr. Gilbertson. The two directors
of the Company are Mr. Gilbertson and Mr. Kuznetsov. The Company is the general
partner of a Cayman Islands exempted limited partnership which is in turn the general
partner of a Cayman Islands investment fund, known as “The Master Fund”. A diagram
of this structure, which is known as the Pallinghurst Structure, is at page 24 of my Ruling

dated 14 April 2009.

The Pallinghurst Structure was established to reflect what was essentially a joint venture
between Mr. Vekselberg and Mr. Gilbertson as set out in an agreement between another
Renova Group company, the parent of the Plaintiff, and Mr. Gilbertson comprised in a
letter dated 24™ November 2005, known as “the Letter Agreement”. For some time prior
to and after that date Mr. Gilbertson was himself employed by a Renova Group company
in Russia although he subsequently ceased to be and is no longer so employed. The

expressed purpose of the Pallinghurst Structure was to explore, acquire and develop
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opportunities in the metal and mining industry to be held as investments by the Master

Fund.

In summary, the essence of the Plaintiff’s claim in the original action is that Mr.
Gilbertson acted in breach of his fiduciary duties as a director of the Company, by
diverting away from the Company a very valuable opportunity to acquire from Unilever
plc the right to exploit commercially the well-known Fabergé brand (“the Rights™). This
opportunity to acquire and exploit the Rights became known as “Project Egg”. There are
also claims against the corporate Gilbertson Party, Autumn, of knowing participation in

this wrongful diversion of assets by Mr. Gilbertson.

The acquisition of the Rights from Unilever was originally proposed by Mr. Gilbertson as
an interesting investment and although it was not an investment of the kind contemplated
for the Pallinghurst Structure and was never approved as such by its Investment
Committee, at least until near to the time of the actual purchase of the Rights, the
affidavit evidence filed to date by the Gilbertson Parties is that the parties were
proceeding on the basis that the Rights would be acquired by the Master Fund, which
was, of course, an integral part of the Pallinghurst Structure and ultimately therefore to
the benefit of the Company. The Plaintiff’s case is that Mr. Gilbertson wrongfully
diverted the Rights away from the Company for his own benefit and not that of the
Company by procuring the purchase of the Rights with the financial assistance of other
investors, rather than Mr. Vekselberg and the Renova Group, and by procuring the issue

of shares in a subsidiary of the Master Fund called Project Egg Limited (which was the
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vehicle used to acquire the Rights) to those other investors, thereby diluting the intended
interest of the Company in the Rights through the Master Fund from 100% to less than
1%. The Plaintiff contends that it had been agreed from the start that the Renova Group
(subsequently agreed to be through a Group company, Renova Holdings) would provide
or procure the funding for the acquisition of the Rights on terms which were reasonable
and in the best interests of the Company, even if in the event not ultimately acceptable to
Mr. Gilbertson personally. One of the three replacement shareholder investors procured
by Mr. Gilbertson was Autumn. The Plaintiff contends that Mr. Gilbertson is liable to
account to the Company and/or the Master Fund for profits received by him and/or by
Autumn, those profits reflecting the very substantial increase in the value of the Rights.

It pleads also that Autumn is liable for knowing receipt.

By their defence and counterclaim the Gilbertson Parties contend that Mr Gilbertson was
free to acquire the Rights for his own benefit because, he contends, the Renova Parties
were themselves in breach of the joint venture agreement by insisting at the last minute,
as a pre-condition of providing the financing for their purchase of the Rights, that the
Rights should be held by another Renova Group company outside the Pallinghurst
Structure, “Lamesa”. Mr. Gilbertson contends that Mr. Vekselberg’s last minute
insistence that the Rights should be owned by a company outside the Pallinghurst
Structure and that he would not finance the purchase of the Rights unless it was, was in
breach of what had been agreed and of the terms of the joint venture between him and
Mr. Vekselberg, as evidenced by the Letter Agreement and the parties subsequent

dealings on that basis.
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There then followed, between about 20 December 2006 and early January 2007,
negotiations between the parties concerning a possible “Implementation Agreement”
whereby the legal ownership and the economic benefits of the Rights would be split but
the negotiations were unsuccessful and Mr. Gilbertson proceeded to acquire the Rights
with funding from alternative sources (including Autumn) as explained above, thereby
excluding any benefit to the Company (and hence Mr. Vekselberg and the Renova

Group).

The Gilbertson Parties’ counterclaim expressly only arises if the Plaintiff is successful in
the original action; if the Plaintiff is not successful the counterclaim does not need to be
pursued. In brief, the counterclaim is to the effect that if the Plaintiff is successful in its
claim and Mr. Gilbertson is liable for breach of fiduciary duty in acting as he did, Mr.
Gilbertson’s conduct in acting as he did and, on this assumption, his resulting alleged
liability was wholly a result of the Renova Party’s own wrongful conduct in seeking to
unilaterally change the terms of the agreement between the parties and the basis upon
which the Rights were to be acquired. The Gilbertson Parties contend that the individual
Renova Parties, Mr. Vekselberg and Mr Kuznetsov procured this wrongful conduct by
the Renova Parties and so are liable to indemnify Mr. Gilbertson for any loss he suffers if

the Plaintiff’s claim is successful.
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13 The parties disagree over the extent to which some of this background is relevant to the
issues in dispute as pleaded. The Renova Parties focus for the most part on the period
from about 15 December 2006 to early January 2007. The Gilbertson Parties, however,
focus also on the earlier period when the Letter Agreement was being negotiated and also
on the later period up to the end of May 2007, in particular. Leading counsel for the
Gilbertson Parties, at paragraph 25 of his Skeleton Argument, summarized what they
contend are the main issues which will arise for determination by the Court at trial,

amongst others, as follows:

25.1 The meaning and effect of various provisions (including, but not limited to,
Clauses 2.1, 2.4, 2.5 and 8.2) of the Letter Agreement and the inter-
Relationship between the scope of Mr Gilbertson’s fiduciary duty to the
Company (on the one hand) and the Letter Agreement (on the other hand) —
this issue will inevitably require consideration by the Court of the full factual
background to the conclusion of the Letter Agreement and the precise nature
and intended scope of the joint venture between Mr Gilbertson and
Mpr. Vekselberg (and the entities associated with them),

25.2 Whether Project Egg [the name given to the proposed acquisition of the Rights]
was ever approved by both Mr Gilbertson and Mr Kuznetsov (and hence, by Mr
Vekselberg, on whose instructions it is common ground that Mr Kuznetsov
acted) to be an Investment Project of the Pallinghurst Structure,

25.3 Why the Renova Parties decided not to finance the purchase of the Rights unless
ownership of the Rights was held by Lamesa, [the Panamanian Renova Group
Panamanian Company, Lamesa] outside the Pallinghurst Structure;

25.4. Whether the ownership of the Rights was ever inended to be held outside the
Pallinghurst Structure,

25.5 Whether it was unreasonable of Mr Gilbertson and/or otherwise a breach of his
fiduciary duty to the Company not to have consented to the terms of the draft
Implementation Agreement as demanded by the Renova Parties,
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25.6 Whether the Renova Parties were entitled to insist on the ownership of the
Rights being transferred to Lamesa, outside the Pallinghurst Structure,

25.7 Whether Mr Vekselberg and/or Mr Kuznetsov induced or procured Renova
Holding to breach the Letter Agreement by refusing to provide any funding
unless ownership of the Rights was held by Lamesa outside the Pallinghurst
Structure.

258 Whether Messrs Vekselberg and Kuzmetsov conspired amongst themselves
and/or with Renova Holding and/or the Plaintiff to damage and/or to commit
unlawful acts against, the Master Fund and/or Mr Gilbertson,

25.9 Whether Mr Kuznetsov acted in breach of his fiduciary duties to the Company,
and, if so, whether he is liable in equity to provide a full indemnity or a
contribution to Mr Gilbertson in the event of the latter being held liable for
breach of fiduciary duty to the Company as the Renova Group claims.

14 Leading counsel for the Renova Parties disputed that all of these issues arise from the
pleadings for determination or at least that they are crucial issues clearly requiring
determination by the Court at a trial. For example, he argued that the Letter Agreement,
being a written document, speaks for itself and that any documentary material relating to
the internal views of the parties concerning its purpose or meaning is not relevant or even
admissible. He submitted that several of the issues which Leading counsel for the
Gilbertson Parties had raised in paragraph 25 of his skeleton argument as summarised
above and as further expanded on in paragraph 270of his skeleton argument, were either

not pleaded or not matters on which the internal views and any internal communications

of the parties were relevant.
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The Renova Parties’ Discovery

The basic complaint made by the Gilbertson Parties about the Renova Parties discovery
largely concerns the lack of discovery of any relevant internal communications,
particularly emails, or other electronic data, between the individuals involved within the
Renova Group, particularly Mr. Vekselberg, Mr Kuznetsov and Mr Kalberer, but also of
any notes of telephone conversations, meetings and other discussion papers, memoranda
or other relevant internal documentation. The Gilbertson Parties contrast the significant
number of internal e-mails in particular exchanged as between themselves and also
between them and those associated with them, with the handful of internal e-mails
discovered by the Renova Parties, most, if not all of which, are anyway simply

forwarding internally e-mails which had been sent or received externally.

The undisputed evidence is that in January 2007 the Renova Parties sought advice
concerning the prospects of the claim, which they now make against the Gilbertson
Parties in the original action, from their London solicitors, Jones Day. In that connection
Mr. Cheremikin and Mr. Kalberer themselves identified and produced to Jones Day what
they considered to be the most significant documents to enable Jones Day to advise them
on the Renova Group’s prospects. Their evidence is, and this was not disputed, that in no
sense was this intended to be a full scale discovery exercise on behalf of the Renova
Group but simply identification and production of what Mr. Cheremikin and Mr.
Kalberer believed to be the most important documents. The instructions given to and the
advice received from Jones Day are privileged. However, it was at or about this time that

Jones Day instructed Maples and Calder to act as the Renova Group’s attorneys in the
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Cayman Islands. Although the advice given is again privileged, the evidence is that at or
about this time Maples and Calder and/or Jones Day advised the Renova Group of the
need to preserve all documents which might be relevant to the issues in the proposed

proceedings.

These proceedings (the original action) were commenced by the Plaintiff against, inter
alia the Gilbertson Parties, on 20" May 2008. After various interlocutory hearings
(including those resulting in the Rulings dated 14™ April 2009, 28" April and 5™ May
2010) and the filing by the Gilbertson Parties of their Defence and Counterclaim, the
Court made, by consent, the 20 July Order, which was in the usual terms, with regard to
discovery. The Renova Parties duly produced a List of Documents dated 1* October
2010 which indicated in general terms that they no longer had in their possession,
custody or power documents which had been destroyed and could not now be recovered.
However, 10 days later, on 12" October 2010, Maples and Calder wrote to the attorneys
for the Gilbertson Parties, Appleby, stating that, as a result of a server crash which had
occurred at the Renova Group’s premises in Zurich in January 2008, the Renova Parties
were not in a position to identify, list or produce copies of any relevant documents that
had been stored electronically on the Zurich computers and that such documents were not
capable of being recovered. This significant problem had not been intimated to the

Gilbertson Parties or their advisors previously.

Over the next few months it became apparent that the Renova Group’s IT staff had at

various times following the Zurich server crash deleted or destroyed all available sources
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or copies of electronic data which had been on the Zurich server prior to the crash and,
that in most instances, such deletion and destruction had taken place after the

commencement of these proceedings. I will elaborate on that later in this Ruling.

As a result of their increasing concerns about the steps taken by the Renova Group and
having obtained advice from experienced, independent IT experts, the Gilbertson Parties
applied to the Court, inter alia, for Further and Better Lists of Documents to be produced
by each of the Renova Parties verified by affidavit by each of them, and for orders for
preservation of all potential relevant electronic data and all potentially relevant computer
hardware on which such data may be stored held by the Renova Parties and each of them.
They applied also for orders relating to the steps taken by Maples and Calder in relation

to the Renova Parties’ discovery.

Following a contested hearing on 25™ November 2010, during the course of which
counsel for the Renova Parties indicated that they were proposing imminently to instruct
independent IT experts themselves, I issued an Ex Tempore Ruling on 30 November

2010 which I think T should quote in full:

The Court has already ruled that this matter should be tried with full discovery,
examination and cross-examination of witnesses in the usual way and the trial
is now listed for 8" June 2011 [since postponed] for a period of 6 weeks.

In order for justice to be done and seen to be done by a fair trial of the issues it
is essential that all of the parties to the claim and the counterclaim list and
produce for inspection by way of discovery all documentation that is in any
way relevant to the issues in dispute, which are or have been in the possession,
custody or power of the party concerned. Documentation includes email
communications, notes and memos of meetings and discussions, including
telephone conversations, etc., whether in hard copy or electronic form on any
computer server, laptop, or handheld device of any kind wherever they may be.
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This is so whether or not such documentation is considered by the party to be
important or to be helpful or unhelpful to his case. This is the law in this
Jurisdiction, as it is in England, and it is considered by the Court to be a
serious breach by any party, with serious consequences, not to give full and
proper discovery. In the case of a corporate party this will include giving
discovery of any relevant documentation which is or has been in the possession
or custody of any director, officer or employee such as, in the present case, Mr.
David Kalberer.

1t is also the professional duty of a party’s lawyer in this country, as an officer
of the Court, to ensure as far as reasonable that the party whom he or she
represents clearly understands and acts upon the requirement to give full and
proper discovery. That professional duty may require a party’s lawyer to go
somewhat further in this respect in the case of a foreign party, who may not
understand and/or appreciate the rationale for and the nature and extent of the
obligation to give full and proper discovery of all documentation relating to
the issues in dispute and to whom the obligation to list and produce documents
which seem to go against his own case or which seem to help the case of the
opposing party may be unattractive and seem contrary to his own interests.

This is not intended to be a comprehensive and full Ruling but having reviewed
the affidavit evidence and considered the skeleton arguments, the law and
authorities cited and heard the oral submissions of counsel, it seems to me that
there is a probable lack of discovery by the plaintiff and each of the 4
defendants to the counterclaim (together “the Renova Parties”). There are
issues in this case in respect of which in all probability there would have been
a significant number of internal communications and discussions as between
the Renova Parties and each of them (and in the case of the corporate Renova
Parties their beneficial owners, directors, officers, and employees) and as
between each of them and other members of the Renova Group. The issues in
dispute in the claim and the counterclaim are well known to all the parties but
in the absence of full and specific explanation by affidavit by each of the
Renova Parties it is not easy to accept that there is not a substantial amount,
and never has been, of internal documentation relating in any way to these
issues. For example, it seems most probable that there would have been
considerable internal communication and discussion concerning the significant
decision not to finance the proposed purchase of the Faberge Rights from
Unilever as originally intended unless ownership of those Rights was to be
held by a different Renova Group company, Lamesa Arts Inc, outside the
Pallinghurst structure. It is similarly unconvincing that there were not a
number of internal communications within the Renova Group concerning
whether the proposed acquisition of the Faberge Rights was or was not or
should or should not be within the Pallinghurst structure and subsequently
concerning the decision to take the approach set out in the letter dated 25
May 2007 that it had never been intended that the Faberge Rights should be
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held within the Pallinghurst structure. These are just examples of issues
concerning which internal documentation seems most likely to have been
created, of which there is a surprising lack listed, but which still may exist or
at least must have existed and, which if appropriate searches and steps had
been taken would have been discovered and even now may possibly be
ascertained and listed by further and better lists.

The Renova Parties claim that the lack of documentation currently listed is
mainly due to a computer server crash in the Renova Group’s office in Zurich
in January 2008. This is explained in an affidavit of Mr. Igor Cheremikin,
Chief Legal Officer of the Renova Group’s management company, SWorn in
Moscow on 18" November 2010. Mr. Cheremikin also purports to explain, on
a hearsay basis of course, the steps taken by the Renova Group IT personnel
following the crash, as a result of which, he says, no further documentation is
available from that server or from back-up tapes kept both on and off-site. 1
agree with counsel for the 2 defendants and plaintiffs in the counterclaim
(together “the Gilbertson Parties”) that these explanations are insufficiently
detailed and specific, leave significant gaps and unanswered questions and are
not sufficient to resolve the concerns which arise about the apparent lack of
discovery. Nor does the affidavit satisfy the concerns to which it gives rise also
in relation to what was done by the Renova Group IT personnel following the
server crash and why specialist forensic data recovery experts were not used
and data destroyed. There is cause for concern also about the apparent failure
of the Renova Parties to actively pursue possible alternative sources of
relevant data in Switzerland, Russia, the Bahamas, the USA and Cyprus. It
seems possible that relevant data may still possibly be in the custody,
possession or power of the Renova Parties or one or more of them accessible
from computers, servers or electronic handheld devices and the like in any of
those places, particularly Russia.

These concerns and possibilities are largely identified and discussed in a
report by Mr. Steve Buddell dated 23" November 2010 which is exhibited to
the 5" affidavit of Mr. Jeremy Kosky of Clifford Chance, the London solicitors
for the Gilbertson Parties. Mr Buddell is an independent computer expert
specializing inter alia in forensic recovery and re-constitution of electronic
data and resolving problems of the sort identified by My. Cheremikin as arising
from the computer crash in Zurich. I found Mr. Buddell’s report very helpful in
setting out various ways in which it may still be possible to recover relevant
data, particularly emails, apparently lost as a result of the crash and as a
result of the somewhat surprising steps taken by the Renova IT personnel
thereafter, including their apparently deciding themselves, without any
guidance, which data was not “important” and could therefore be deleted.

In the circumstances it is, in my opinion, now incumbent on each of the Renova
Parties, having regard to my comments and the analysis and suggestions in
Mr. Buddell’s report, and I order each of them, to serve a further and better
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list of documents, verified in each case by affidavit by the relevant party
personally and in the case of a corporate party by a director who is willing and
available to give evidence at the trial. In order that the Renova Parties should
each have sufficient time to obtain and utilise the services of an independent
forensic computer expert to assist them to comply with their discovery
obligations and with the Court’s order, should they be advised to do so, I will
allow them until 11" January 2011 to serve such further and better lists and

verifying affidavits.

It goes without saying that each of the Renova Parties, including by their
respective beneficial owners, officers, employees, agents and other members of
the Renova Group, must take all steps necessary to preserve all computers,
servers, back-up tapes, handheld electronic devices or other means of
transmitting or receiving data and all or any data which they are advised may
be relevant which is held or stored on or by any such or similar means in any
Jurisdiction whatsoever and I also so order to that effect with a penal notice to
be attached.

I direct too that each of the Renova Parties shall produce a detailed log (with
technical assistance if necessary, such technical assistance to be specifically
identified) identifying precisely the nature, the medium (whether encrypted or
unencrypted) and the exact location of all such means of transmitting,
receiving or storing data and the data which is or was thereon which they have
been advised may be relevant, as referred to above, such log to be exhibited in
each case to the affidavit sworn in verification of that Renova Party’s further
and better list.

In the particular circumstances I do consider it appropriate that the partner of
Maples and Calder responsible for the conduct of this case on behalf of the
Renova Parties shall, at the same times as service of further and better lists by
each of the Renova Parties as [ have ordered, serve an affidavit explaining the
precise steps taken by each of the Renova Parties in compliance with this order

and when, where and how such steps were taken. [ therefore make an order to
that effect.

In light of my rulings above, the costs incurred by the Gilbertson Parties in
respect of and occasioned by their summons dated 5" November 2010 shall be
paid by the Renova Parties in any event, such costs to be taxed if not agreed.

In light of this, and the following certain further negotiations between the parties, I made

the 30 November Order to which I have already referred at paragraph 2(2) above.
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Following the 30 November Order, Further and Better Lists, verified by affidavit, were
produced by the corporate Renova Parties but separate Lists verified by affidavit were not
produced by the individual Renova Parties, Mr. Vekselberg and Mr. Kuznetsov. Other
affidavits were also filed on behalf of the Renova Parties in light of the terms of the
order. In light of the failure of the individual Renova Parties to comply strictly with the
30 November Order there followed a further contested hearing following of which I made
the 7 April Order with which Mr. Vekselberg and Mr. Kuznetsov then complied by

submitting verifying affidavits.

I should also note that according to the affidavit evidence of the Renova Parties,
subsequent to the advice given to the Renova Group concerning the need to preserve
relevant documents which they received in January 2007, to which I have already
referred above, the Renova Parties did not receive any further advice from or have any
discussions with either Jones Day or Maples and Calder concerning discovery until
October 2009, after the filing of the Renova Parties’ Reply and Defence to the Gilbertson
Parties” Defence and Counterclaim. The advice which they were given then is also, of
course, privileged but the concerns which were subsequently brought to my attention
concerning the steps taken or not taken by the Renova Parties’ attorneys in relation to
discovery are clearly reflected in my Ex Tempore Ruling dated 30 November 2010

quoted above.
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The steps taken by or on behalf of the Renova Parties

I do not propose to rehearse in great detail the steps taken by the Renova Group IT
Department following the Zurich server crash in January 2008. They are the subject of
detailed discussion, analysis and comment by the parties’ respective IT experts, much of
which is of a technical IT nature. The Gilbertson Parties’ criticisms thereof and the
Renova Parties explanations are exhaustively set out in the various affidavits, as well as
the experts’ reports, which were filed and relied upon in the course of the 4 day hearing
before me. They are also canvassed at length and in detail in the parties’ respective
skeleton arguments. In summary, however, the Gilbertson Parties’ complaints are largely
based upon the destruction of all sources of data following the crash of the Renova
Group’s server in Zurich, which was the principal source of historic e-mails, in particular

the following:

(a) The Zurich server crash: This occurred on 24™ January 2008, some four months prior

to the commencement of these proceedings. There is no evidence, and it was not
suggested, that this crash was anything other than accidental but it is the steps taken by
the Renova Group following the crash that are heavily criticised by the Gilbertson
Parties as being inconsistent with the Renova Parties’ discovery obligations and their

obligation to preserve documents and the sources of documents in particular.

Following the crash it is said that the Renova IT staff were under pressure to restore e-
mail services as soon as possible and accordingly the data on the original crashed
server’s e-mail database was deleted in order to enable this. The Renova Parties’
evidence is that this was considered an appropriate solution at the time as the Renova

IT staff are said to have believed that they would be able to restore the deleted data
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from other sources, in particular certain back-up tapes (referred to at (b) and (c) below).
Furthermore, before deleting the original e-mail database, the IT staff copied the
content of the crashed sever onto a decommissioned server in Moscow (referred to at
(d) below). The Renova Group then went on to re-use the failed Zurich server after the

crash and deleted the original database to enable such re-use.

Later, from December 2009 onwards, the Renova Group used the failed Zurich server
for mail forwarding purposes. This required the IT department to reconfigure the
hardware and to install new system files on the crashed server, the effect of which was
to further reduce significantly the possibility of repairing and recovering any original
deleted data. Although the parties’ IT experts agree that it may have been possible to
recover e-mail messages originally, the consequence of the Renova Group’s continued
use of the failed Zurich server during 2008 and 2009 meant that any potentially
recoverable e-mail data would have been over-written and so rendered irrecoverable.
The Renova Group did not consult any IT experts until shortly before my Ex Tempore

Ruling in November 2010, almost 3 years after the server crash.

(b) The back-up tapes: The data stored on the Zurich server was as a matter of course

stored and duplicated in encrypted back-up tapes daily, weekly, monthly and
annually. Access to the data stored on the encrypted back-up tapes required the use
of three pass-worded “keys”. Sometime after August 2008, that is after the
commencement of these proceedings the Renova Group, through their IT department
took the decision to destroy the encrypted back-up tapes because one of the holders of
the pass-worded keys (Mr. Cheremikin) had lost his password and, it is said by the
Renova Parties, access to the data on the back-up tapes was therefore no longer
possible. It was apparently thought by the Renova Group IT department that
important data held on the Zurich crashed server would have been saved to network

desktop folders which would not have been adversely affected by the server crash.
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Unencrypted copy of Zurich server database: This separate unencrypted copy of the
database, which was additional to the encrypted back-up tapes mentioned above and
additional to the decommissioned Moscow server copy, was made after the server
crash in order to enable the defragmentation of the database. However, it appears, for
unexplained reasons, that the defragmentation process was not successful and the
Renova Parties’ evidence is that once again the Renova Group IT personnel went on

to destroy the unencrypted copy of the original Zurich server data as well.

(d) The decommissioned Moscow server: As already mentioned the database of the

(©)

failed Zurich server was copied by the Renova Group IT department onto a
decommissioned server in Moscow. However, the Renova Group subsequently
installed other software on that server to enable it to be used for testing purposes as a
result of which the copy of the failed Zurich server database was over-written and the
possibly of successfully recovering any e-mails over the period 2005 to 2007 from the
Moscow server was consequently precluded. The evidence of the Renova Parties’

own expert is that this overwriting occurred on 4™ December 2009, 10™ February

2010 and 26 November 2010.

Deletion of the logical drive: The Renova Parties’ evidence is that is that the logical
drive of the crashed Zurich server was deleted by the Renova Group IT personnel on
or after 1*' December 2010, that is after paragraph 3 of the 30 November Order was
made. This deletion had the effect of further frustrating any attempt to recover the
original deleted data from the crashed Zurich server. On later re-examination by the
Renova Parties own IT experts, a number of folders (but not files) with names
apparently relating to the Pallinghurst Structure were identified. It is not clear
whether these folders ever contained user created files. The suggestions made and
issues raised relating to the logical drive by the parties’ respective 1T experts differ
but it does appear that questions concerning the potential recovery of data by this

means are unanswered by the Renova Group IT department.
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The upshot of all this is that it is accepted that the Renova IT department took a series of
very significant decisions in the period January 2008 to December 2010 which has
resulted in the effective eradication of all potential sources of any relevant electronic
documentation saved on the crashed Zurich server. The evidence of the Gilbertson
Parties’ independent IT experts, which is not disputed in this respect by the Renova
Parties” own independent IT experts, is that it would not have been difficult or expensive
for the Renova Group to make different decisions at the time which would have ensured
that all of the potential sources of data concerned were preserved for expert forensic
examination, particularly given that these proceedings were clearly in contemplation at
the time of the Zurich computer crash and commenced shortly thereafter, and given also
that the Renova Group had already received legal advice prior to the server crash that
they should preserve all relevant documentation for purposes of these proceedings.
Notwithstanding that advice the Renova Group took deliberate steps, in most instances
after these proceedings had commenced, which destroyed any prospects of recovering for
discovery purposes e-mail and other electronic data from any potential sources apparently
without any regard for their discovery obligations and the need to preserve any

potentially relevant e-mails and other documents.

The Gilbertson Parties also complain about other aspects of the Renova Parties’
discovery. They point to the complete absence of notes, memoranda and working
documents. For example, they are cynical of Mr. Kalberer’s evidence that it was his
practice to dispose on a regular basis of all his working documents, handwritten notes etc.

made on or in connection with draft agreements so that he is unable to now discover any

Page 23 of 66



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

26

such material. An example of this relates to the period between late December 2006 and
early January 2007 when negotiations were taking place between Mr. Gilbertson on one
hand and Mr. Vekselberg (through Mr. Kuznetsov and Mr. Kalberer) on the other hand
regarding the various drafts of the proposed Implementation Agreement. Mr. Kalberer,
was directly involved in the drafting and revised drafting of the proposed terms.
However, he was on vacation in Brazil at the time and was taking instructions from Mr.
Kuznetsov, who was presumably in Zurich, or possibly, in Moscow, with Mr. Kalberer
then implementing such instructions in his drafting on his laptop. It does seem rather
improbable that Mr. Kalberer would not have made detailed notes of his discussions with
Mr. Kuznetsov and of the various proposals discussed so that he could then incorporate
them in the draft on his laptop. I find it somewhat surprising that Mr. Kalberer, as a
lawyer, would not have retained those notes (and indeed his notes relating to other
instructions, for example relating to the drafting of the Letter Agreement), if only for his
own protection. However, Mr. Kalberer’s affidavit evidence is that his practice was to
destroy his earlier drafts and this of course occurred prior} to the commencement of these

proceedings, although possibly in some instances after they were in contemplation.

The Gilbertson Parties also complain about Mr. Vekselberg’s failure to give discovery of
any e-mails received on and possibly sent from e-mail addresses, other than his Renova
addresses, used by him. He accepts in his evidence that “people” sent him e-mails to
such addresses which related to his personal business, such as the acquisition of the
Rights. One such e-mail address is Mr. Vekselberg’s TNK-BP e-mail address. The

probability, based on his evidence, is that Mr. Vekselberg’s TNK-BP e-mail account
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contained relevant e-mails. Mr. Vekselberg is an executive director and a member of the
Board of TNK-BP but he has declined to take any steps to obtain access to his personal
historic e-mails from his TNK-BP address over the relevant period. His reason for not
doing so is because there is a dispute, the subject of arbitration, between the consortium
of which Renova is a member on the one hand and BP on the other hand which affects
TNK-BP. Mr. Vekselberg considers that in the circumstances it would not be
“appropriate” for him to request TNK-BP’s IT department to spend company time and
resources in searching TNK-BP’s computer systems for his personal e-mails relating to
these proceedings, which have nothing to do with TNK-BP. Mr. Vekselberg says that he
is not in a position to make such a request in the current environment in which his
relationship with TNK-BP is very strained. He contends that any such documents are
accordingly not in his possession, custody or power. There seems to have been no
objection on the part of TNK-BP to Mr. Vekselberg using his e-mail account for personal
business purposes and, notwithstanding the ongoing arbitration, I find it hard to see why,
as an executive director and Board member, he should not be able to obtain access to
such historic personal e-mails which are unrelated to the business of TNK-TBP and
unrelated to the arbitration. I do not find the Renova Parties’ submissions in this regard
particularly compelling. In my view, the overall impression given is that Mr. Vekselberg
either does not understand or accept or does not wish to understand or accept the
requirement to use his best endeavours to obtain access to such e-mails so as to comply
with his discovery obligations in the present proceedings, which he has procured the

Plaintiff to initiate.
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27 Mr. Vekselberg is also a non-executive director and chairman of the Board of a Jersey

company, known as RUSAL, which is the successor to a company known as SUAL. The
evidence of the Renova Parties is that Mr. Vekselberg also used his SUAL e-mail address
at times for personal business, including in relation to the issues in these proceedings.
Mr. Vekselberg’s objection to disclosure of e-mails sent to and from that e-mail address
is based on Jersey law advice that he does not have a legal right to require RUSAL to
carry out a search of its IT systems for potentially relevant historic e-mails on his SUAL
account. He therefore says that any such e-mails too are not in his possessions, custody
or power. The Gilbertson Parties’ position in this regard is effectively the same as it is in
relation to Mr. Vekselberg’s TNK-BP e-mail account. They argue that there is no
evidence that Mr. Vekselberg was prohibited by SUAL from using his SUAL e-mail
address for corresponding in regard to matters unconnected with SUAL’s business; they
contend that indeed it is to be presumed that he had SUAL’s consent to use his e-mail
address for personal business in the way that he did. They submit that in those
circumstances SUAL’s consent can be taken as extending to Mr. Vekselberg having
access to personal e-mails which he was permitted at the time to receive and/or send. In
this instance, Mr. Vekselberg has written to RUSAL requesting copies of his e-mails over
the relevant period but no response has yet been received. In the absence to-date of a
response from RUSAL to Mr. Vekselberg’s letter, the final factual position is not known
but, once again, the overall impression given, in my view, is that, notwithstanding that
the 30 November Order expressly required Mr. Vekselberg to list in his List of

Documents all documents, including e-mails or other data sent to or from any e-mail

address used by him (my emphasis), Mr. Vekselberg has been less than enthusiastic in
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complying with the terms of that order. I am somewhat cynical about the explanation
which he has given for his contention that such e-mails are not within his possession,

custody or power.

The Gilbertson Parties also contend that potentially relevant e-mails are likely to be held
on e-mail accounts of Mr. Vekselberg’s daughter, Irina Vekselberg (“Irina”). Mr.
Gilbertson and his associates had e-mail exchanges with Irina at relevant times in relation
to the matters which are the subject of these proceedings. Irina was apparently employed
by a company within the Renova Group and took a personal interest in the acquisition of
the Rights. The Renova Parties have not objected to disclosure of e-mails on Irina’s
Renova Group email address but they do object to the discovery of e-mails or other
documents send to or from her personal e-mail address on the ground that any such e-
mails are not in their possession, custody or power. This is based on Russian law
evidence that the Renova Parties do not have a legal right under Russian Law to compel
Irina to produce any such documents on her personal e-mail account for the purposes of
discovery in these proceedings. However, Russian law evidence obtained by the
Gilbertson Parties indicates on the contrary that there are two grounds upon which the
Renova Parties could lawfully require Irina to disclose e-mails sent to her personal e-mail
address which relate to the issues in dispute. However, to my mind, the question of
discovery of potentially relevant e-mails on Irina’s personal e-mail account is very
peripheral to the main issues in this dispute. Its resolution would require determination
of which Russian legal advice the Court should prefer in the absence of cross-

examination and I do not consider a trial on that issue to be appropriate as part of what is,
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after all, an interlocutory application, which even without that issue, in my opinion, took
inappropriately long. I therefore do not consider it necessary for the determination of this
application to express any opinion on the position with regard to e-mails sent to or from

Irina’s personal e-mail address.

The Parties’ Contentions

The Gilbertson Parties contend that it is highly probable that there were internal e-mail
exchanges between the Renova Parties and between them and other Renova Group
employees concerning the issues in the case. They point out that the Renova Group is a
large international conglomerate with significant business interests in various countries
which advertises its “global corporate governance standards and advanced global
production and management technologies and its standardization and documentation of
key management proposals.... aimed to improve management decision making quality.”
Furthermore, the Gilbertson Parties point out that the Renova Parties’ own evidence
shows that they did in fact use e-mail to communicate with the Gilbertson Parties and to
copy such communications internally to each other. They contend that in the
circumstances it is most likely that there were internal e-mail communications between
the Renova Parties themselves and between them and other individuals within the Renova
Group, such as Mr. Cheremikin and Mr. Kalberer, who were located in different
countries and different time zones. They also contend that the probabilities are that any
such internal e-mail communications were saved on the e-mail database of the Zurich
server which crashed in January 2008. The Zurich offices were the principal Renova

Group headquarters outside Russia and the evidence of Mr. Vekselberg, Mr. Kuznetsov,
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and Mr. Kalberer is that they all deleted e-mails from their own various individual
computers, whether desktop, laptop or handheld, because such e-mails would be saved on

the central Zurich server database.

The principal criticism made by the Gilbertson Parties is that the Renova Parties were in
serious breach of their discovery obligations in knowingly destroying all of the various
potential sources of data deriving from the crashed Zurich server, thereby rendering any
potential subsequent recovery by IT experts impossible. They emphasis that the Renova
Group, through its Chief Legal Officer, Mr. Cheremikin in Moscow and its Deputy Chief
Legal Officer, Mr. Kalberer, in Zurich, were specifically advised by their Cayman and/or
their London lawyers of the need to preserve relevant documents when this litigation was
first in contemplation in January 2007 and that the Renova Parties were further advised to
that effect again in October 2009. The evidence of Mr. Cheremikin is that the Renova
Group IT department were informed of the need to preserve relevant documents,
although, it is, the Gilbertson Parties say, obvious that this advice was either ignored or at

least not acted upon.

It was submitted on behalf of the Gilbertson Parties that in these circumstances there is a
resulting substantial risk that a fair trial is not possible. They contend that the Renova
Parties’ lack of proper discovery, indeed lack of almost any discovery, of documents
relevant to the issues in the case means that there is a serious risk that there cannot be a
fair trial. Although they do not contend that the Renova Parties’ failure to give full and

proper discovery is deliberate in the sense of being intended to pervert the course of
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justice, they do contend that the Renova Parties have shown a reckless and culpable
disregérd for their discovery obligations and in particular their obligations to preserve
relevant documents and the sources of such documents. They submit that although they
accept that striking out the Renova Parties’ claim is not intended as a punishment for
such culpability, nonetheless, since as a consequence of their actions there is a serious
risk that a fair trial is not possible, the Plaintiff’s claim and the Renova Parties” defence

to the counterclaim should be struck out.

The Renova Parties contend, first, that the Court does not have jurisdiction to strike out in
the present circumstances. They argue that GCR Order.24, r.20 is the sole source of the
Court’s jurisdiction to strike out in respect of defective discovery and that therefore such
jurisdiction only arises when there has been a breach of an order for discovery, usually an
“unless” order. They argue that paragraph 3 of the 30 November Order is a mandatory
injunction order and not an order for discovery of which there has been any breach. They
dispute that the Court has any inherent jurisdiction over and above the specific
jurisdiction created by GCR 0.24, r.20 which, they say codifies the Court’s powers in

this respect.

The Renova Parties also submit that no duties or obligations in respect of discovery arise
until an order for discovery is made, in this case that being the 20 July Order. They say

that accordingly in this case the Renova Parties had no obligations with regard to
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discovery until then and that therefore most of the steps taken by the Renova Group IT

department following the Zurich computer crash in January 2008 are simply not relevant.

It was also argued on behalf of the Renova Parties that the steps taken by the Renova
Group IT Department were anyway reasonable in the circumstances and entirely
understandable and not culpable. In any event, they submitted, there is no evidence
either that the e-mail database of the crashed Zurich server ever contained any e-mails or
other documents relevant to these proceedings or that any data would have in fact been
recoverable from the crashed Zurich server whether, from the back-up tapes, from the
Moscow server or from the logical drive, even if they had not been destroyed or
overwritten. They also point out that the affidavit evidence relied upon by the Renova
Parties is that the principal individuals concerned did not habitually use internal e-mail
anyway, whether to discuss issues such as those which are the subject of the proceeding
or otherwise and it was not their practice to make or keep notes, memoranda or drafts of
documents. This, they say, being the affidavit evidence, it is not, at least in the absence
of any cross examination, open to challenge for purposes of the Gilbertson Parties’ strike
out application. In any event, it was submitted, the affidavits verifying the Further and

Better Lists of Documents are conclusive and the Court may not go behind them.

With regard to Mr. Vekselberg’s TNK-BP and SUAL e-mail accounts, the Renova
Parties contend that Mr. Vekselberg has no legal right in Russia (in relation to his TNK-
BP e-mail account) or in Jersey (in relation to his SUAL e-mail account) to demand

access to any historic e-mails sent to or from those e-mail addresses and that accordingly
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such e-mails, if there were any, are not within his possession, custody or power and

therefore not discoverable.

36 Lastly, in this general summary of the parties contentions, the Renova Parties submit that

there is no basis in the present case for striking out their claim at this, an interlocutory

stage, but that any doubts with regard to discovery should be dealt with at the trial where

the Court will hear oral evidence and cross examination and may draw whatever

inferences it may consider justified in reaching its conclusion on the merits of the original

action and the counterclaim.

The Relevant Law

37 GCR 0.24, 1.20 provides as follows:

‘()

(2)

3)

4

Where the Court has made an order for discovery (either of documents or by
way of oral examination) against any party and such party fails to comply, the
Court may make such order as it thinks just, including, in particular, an order
that the action be dismissed or, as the case may be order that the defence be
struck out and final judgment entered accordingly.

If any party against whom an order for discovery is made fails to comply with
it, then, without prejudice to paragraph (1), he shall be liable to committal or,
where the party is a body corporate, its responsible officer(s) shall be liable to
committal.

Service on a party’s attorney of an order for discovery made against that
party shall be sufficient service to found an application for committal of the
party disobeying the order but the party may show cause in answer to the
application that he had no notice or knowledge of the order.

An attorney on whom an order made against his client is served and who fails

without reasonable excuse to give notice thereof to his client shall be liable to
committal.”
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While [ was referred to a number of English cases, to which I shall refer in due course, it
seems to me proper and appropriate that I should start with the two principal Cayman
Islands authorities to which I was referred and which, of course, although not binding on
me because they were both cases at first instance, are nonetheless more persuasive in this

Court.

Brown v Horvat Properties (Cayman Islands) I.td et al [1992-93] CILR NS (full

Transcript of Reasons dated 20 December 1993), (Smellie J, (as he then was)), was a case
in which there had been an “unless” order made against the defendants, who were the
defaulting parties, with regard to the defendants’ failure to give proper discovery.
Inevitably the circumstances were quite different from those in the instant case. However,
the learned judge, in cénsidering the relevant principles said (page 13 of Transcript):
“The available case law dealing with the exercise of the Court’s power to
strike out advises that it is not a part of the function of the Court to punish

the party in default and cases of contumacious conduct in relation to
discovery must, necessarily, be extremely rare.

In the same judgment in which the foregoing observations were cited,
Lloyd LJ in Landauer Ltd v Comins and Co. The Times, 7 August 1991,
the English Court of Appeal (Civil Division), also made the following
observations:

“But I can imagine cases of contumacious conduct such as the
deliberate suppression of a document which might justify the
striking out on the analogy of striking out for want of prosecution
under Order 25, rule 1(4) even if a fair trial were still possible”.
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In the Landauer case it was also confirmed, by the adoption of the test
earlier propounded in Logricose Limited v Southend United Football Club
Limited The Times, 5 March 1988 —

“that in the absence of contumacious default the test was whether there
was a real or substantial or serious risk that a fair trial was no longer

possible.

The second dimension related to the prospect of requiring the Plaintiff to
proceed with the trial without complete discovery from the defendants.

While the Plaintiff’s case was patently strong, there was no measure for
assessing the possible importance of material which was yet to be
discovered. That recourse would therefore not have been an appropriate

manner in which to direct the conduct of this somewhat complex litigation.

The decision to strike out might, also, properly contain an element of

sanction for non-compliance with the order of a Court.

The following passage is taken from the decision of the English Court of
Appeal in: Lonrho plc v Fayed and Others (No.3), the Times Law Reports,
June 24, 1993 at p.349

“The commonest use of Order 24, rule 16 [the RSC
equivalent of GCR 0.24, r.20] was to enforce a party’s
obligation to serve a list of documents, the Court would
order the claim or defence to be struck out unless discovery
was given by a certain time.

If there was a default in the “unless” order the claim or
defence was struck out without more ado. It could also be

Page 34 of 66



AN DN B W=

10

11

12

13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
- 23
24
25
26
27
28
29

an effective sanction where admitted breaches had
occurred or it was clear from the parties’ own documents
there was non-compliance.”

40 In Tasarruf Mevduati Sigorta Fonu (“TMSF™) et al v Wisteria Bay [.td et al [2008] CILR

231, the Hon. Chief Justice (Smellie CJ) struck out the defendants’ defences, again in

circumstances which were significantly different from those in the present case. In that

case three separate orders had been made for delivery of the original documentation in

issue, which had not been complied with. The last two of those orders were “unless”

orders which the learned Chief Justice was satisfied the defendants had failed to comply

with. He went on to say (p.253):

“54.

The case law upon which I will later elaborate (e.g. Landauer Ltd v.

Comins & Co. [ [1991] TLR 382] ] advises that in circumstances such as

these, there is a duty upon the defaulting party to satisfy the Court, by an
explanation which the Court might accept, why it is that it has failed to
meet its discovery obligations, and why, even worse in so doing, they
breached an “unless” order. And further, why it is then that they should
be allowed to continue in the proceedings. The explanations which have
been put before me fall woefully short of meeting those requirements. I am
compelled to the conclusion that any verdict in favour of the defendants in
this case, based on the state of the evidence as the result of their failure to
meet their discovery obligations, would be an unsafe verdict. In so
concluding, I have primarily in mind the factors first mentioned at the
outset of this ruling — that the loan documentation, the very provenance
and authenticity of which are in question and which are of pivotal
importance to the Plaintiffs’ case, are those which are now completely in

doubt. And from this, the patently clear and serious risk that some of them
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55.

at least are being deliberately withheld, or have been deliberately
destroyed.

As in Landauer Ltd v Comins & Co., here the circumstances invite the

only reasonable inference that, where documents have been deliberately
suppressed, they must have been highly material to the issues in the
action. And also, as in that case, the unavoidable conclusion is that, in the
absence of those documents, justice cannot be done. When this ultimate
failure, on the part of the defendants, is taken with the history of proven
recalcitrance and prevarication on their part in this case, it is a failure
which can, in my view, be regarded only as an abuse of the process of the
Court. See Arrow Nominees Inc. v Blackledge [[2000] 2 BCLC 167],
where the English Court of Appeal stated ([2001] BCC 591, at paras.54-
35):

“But where a litigant’s conduct puts the fairness of the trial in
Jeopardy, where it is such that any judgment in favour of the
litigant would have to be regarded as unsafe, or where it amounts
to such an abuse of process of the Court as to render further
proceedings unsatisfactory and to prevent the Court from doing
Justice, the Court is entitled — indeed, I would hold bound — to
refuse to allow that litigant to take further part in the proceedings
and (where appropriate) to determine the proceedings against him.
The reason, as it seems to me, is that it is no part of the Court’s
function to proceed to trial if to do so would give risk to a
substantial risk of injustice. The function of the Court is to do
Justice between the parties; not to allow its process to be used as a
means of achieving injustice. A litigant who has demonstrated that
he has determined to pursue proceedings with the object of
preventing a fair trial has forfeited his right to take part in a trial.
His object is inimical to the process which he purports to invoke.

Further, in this context, a fair trial is a trial which is conducted
without undue expenditure of time and money, and with a proper
regard to demands of other litigants upon the finite resources of a
Court. The Court does not do justice to the other parties to the
proceedings in question if it allows its process to be abused so that
the real point in issue becomes subordinated to an investigation
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36.

57.

38.

61.

into the effect which the admittedly fraudulent conduct of one party

in connection with the process of litigation has had on the fairness
of the trial itself”.

Still further, as the basis upon which a Court prevents a defaulting party
from continuing with his case (ibid, at para.58):

“The Court does not strike out the petition because it disapproves
of the petitioner’s conduct; it strikes out the petition because it is
satisfied that the petitioner’s conduct has led to an unacceptable
risk that any judgment in his favour will be unsafe”.

Here, I have indicated that I am driven to the conclusion that a fair trial is

1O 10NGEF POSSIDIE ... ... ..ot oo oot s s et e e e e e e e e e

In these circumstances, I must conclude that there is no probability of the
defendants complying in good faith with their discovery obligations. This
further finding, by itself, would be a sufficient basis for strike-out, by
reference to the willingness of the Courts in the analogous situation of the
absence of a bona fide defence, to grant summary judgment to the
plaintiff. .......c..cooco v eee e ee oo, This s not a conclusion, I might
add, which depends upon the Court undertaking the sort of “trial on
affidavit evidence” which was discountenanced in that and other

For all those reasons, ............................ it is open to me to
conclude, on the balance of probabilities, that no satisfactory explanation
has been given for the continuing absence of the second set of originals,
from these proceedings. That then leads also to the unavoidable
conclusion that the second defendant.....................is also in

contumacious breach of the “unless’ orders of this Court. So also, must
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the defendants altogether............................be regarded as having
Jailed to meet their general discovery obligations imposed by the Grand
Court Rules 1995, O.24, .20 in this action.

In such circumstances, plaintiffs are not to be invariably required to show
that there is a real risk of prejudice to their case, before the sanction of
striking out can be imposed upon the defendants. That sanction is justified

by the deliberate and inexcusable nature of the breach itself. ..................

63. For all these foregoing reasons, I conclude — and even with concerns as to
the need for proportionality of the just sanction in mind... ...... .................
that there is a real risk that the conduct of the defendants has rendered
further conduct of the proceedings unsatisfactory (a conclusion of
principle reached by Millett J, as he then was, based on similarly serious
concerns in Logicrose Ltd [supra). The defendants have therefore in my
view, entirely forfeited their right to continue to defend, or to sue, in these

proceedings. I order that their defence and counterclaim be struck out”.

41 The three principal English authorities referred to by the Hon. Chief Justice in the two

Cayman Islands cases which I have quoted from above were Logicrose L.td v Southend

United Football Club (The Times, 5 March 1988 — official transcript of 5 February 1988)

(“the Logicrose case”); Landauer L.td v Comins & Co (English Court of Appeal — official

transcript dated 14 May 1991) (“the Landauer case”) and Arrow Nominees Inc. v

Blackledge [2000] 2 BCLC 167 (“the Arrow Nominees case”). I was also referred by

both Leading counsel at the hearing before me to Douglas v Hello! Litd [2003] EWHC 55

(Ch) (“the Douglas v Hello! case”). Although Leading counsel referred me to other cases

both in their extensive written skeleton arguments and in their oral submissions, to some
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of which I will refer later, these four English cases, although of course not binding on me,

are the English authorities which I found of most assistance.

The Logicrose case concerned an application by the defendants during the course of the
trial of the action and shortly before the conclusion of the plaintiffs’ case for an order that
the action be dismissed and the defence to the counterclaim struck out pursuant to RSC
0.24, r.16 on the ground that the plaintiffs had failed to comply with the requirements for
discovery. The basis for the application was summarized by Millett J (as he then was) as

follows:

“It is alleged that Mr. Harriss, who is the principal Director and shareholder of
the plaintiffs (and has been their principal witness) has not merely failed to
disclose the existence of a crucial document in his possession or power, but that,
having obtained it during the course of the trial (and, indeed, during the course of
his cross examination), he deliberately suppressed it and, for a time, successfully
concealed its existence from the Court.

That is a very serious allegation indeed. If true it would deserve the serious
consequences for which the Defendants ask, but it must be clearly proved.
Despite Mr Nugee’s submissions to the contrary on behalf of the Plaintiffs, I am
satisfied that it does not have to be proved in accordance with the criminal
standard of proof. Deliberate disobedience of (sic) a peremptory order for
discovery is no doubt a contempt and, if proved in accordance with the criminal
standard of proof, may, in theory at least, be visited with a fine or imprisonment.
But to debar the offender from all further part in the proceedings and to give
Jjudgment against him accordingly is not an appropriate response by the Court to
contempt.

It may, however, be an appropriate response to a failure to comply with the rules
relating to discovery, even in the absence of a specific order of a Court, and so in
the absence of any contempt, not because that conduct is deserving of punishment
but because the failure has rendered it impossible to conduct a fair trial and
would make any judgment in favour of the offender unsafe.

In my view a litigant is not to be deprived of his right to a proper trial as a
penalty for his contempt or his defiance of the Court, but only if his conduct has
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amounted to an abuse of the process of the Court which would render any further
proceedings unsatisfactory and prevent the Court from doing justice. Before the
Court takes that serious step, it needs to be satisfied that there is a real risk of this
happening.”

43. Having set out in detail the factual circumstances and counsel’s submissions concerning

the missing document, which had eventually been produced, Millet J. continued

0 N N AW

(Transcript p.7):

9
10 The object of Order 24 Rulel6 is not to punish the offender for his conduct but to
11 secure the fair trial of the action in accordance with the due process of the Court
12 (_see Husband’s of Marchwood Ltd. v _Drummond Walker Developments Ltd
13 [1975] 2 All ER 30, [1975] 1 WLR 603). The deliberate and successful
14 suppression of a material document is a serious abuse of the process of the Court
15 and may well merit the exclusion of the offender from all over participation in the
16 trial. The reason is that it makes the fair trial of the action impossible to achieve
17 and any judgment in favour of the offender unsafe... ...... ... ...
18
19 e e e e e e e et e e e e e e e e e ee e e But 1 do not think that it would be
20 right to drive a litigant from the judgment seat without a determination of the
21 issue as a punishment for his conduct, however deplorable, unless there was a
22 real risk that that conduct would render the further conduct of proceedings
23 unsatisfactory. The Court must always guard itself against the temptation of
24 allowing its indignation to lead to a miscarriage of justice.”
25
26
27 44, The Landauer case was an appeal from an order of the judge below striking out the
28 plaintiff’s claim for failure to comply with its discovery obligations. The plaintiff
29 conceded that it was in breach of its discovery obligations in that a number of relevant
30 documents were not at first listed in its List of Documents and had since been destroyed.
31 In giving the judgment of the English Court of Appeal Lloyd LJ said that there was no
32 doubt that the judge had jurisdiction to make the order (striking out the plaintiff’s claim)
33 which he did, but that the question was whether he should have exercised his discretion to
34 strike out in that case. In the particular circumstances on which the plaintiff’s claim were
35 based, the Court of Appeal said that it was clear that the state of knowledge of the
36 plaintiff’s managing director (a Mr Axford) was going to be of critical importance to the
37 success of the plaintiff’s claim at trial. Some of the most relevant parts of this judgment
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“The writ was issued on 2 August 1986. On 11 September 1987 the plaintiffs
Sfurnished their first list of documents. The list was defective, since a number of
relevant documents were omitted altogether. Some of these documents had
already been destroyed. Others were destroyed later. The destruction took place
in three phases. The first phase was as a result of a policy of destruction initiated
in October 1986, a few months after the writ was issued. Further destruction took
place in February 1989, when the plaintiffs moved their offices. The final phase
was in June 1990, when Mr Axford retired.

There is an issue between the parties as to the plaintiffs’ state of mind when
carrying out their policy of destruction. The defendants do not say that the
plaintiffs deliberately destroyed documents which they knew to be relevant to
these proceedings in order to prevent them coming to the eyes of the defendants.
But they do say, or any rate did say in the Court below, that the plaintiffs carried
out their policy of destruction in knowing disregard of their discovery obligations.
In other words, they destroyed these files without first checking the files to see
whether they contained any relevant documents. That applied particularly to
documents destroyed by Mr Axford in June 1990, despite advice which the

plaintiffs had received from their solicitors.

It was common ground that the question he [the Judge] had to ask himself was
whether there was a real or substantial or serious risk that a fair trial was no
longer possible. This was the test which had been adopted by Millett J. in [the
Logicrose case| and followed by Mummery J in Associated Newspapers Group
PLC v Insert Media Limited and others (unreported). In neither of those cases

was the plaintiff’s claim struck out, since in both cases the documents in question
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were eventually produced. So far as we have been told, this is the first occasion
on which a claim has been struck out for breach of a discovery obligation.
Having rejected two of the grounds of appeal which are not material for present purposes
the Court of Appeal went on to consider whether the appellants/ plaintiffs had established
that the judge was plainly wrong in striking out the plaintiff’s claim. In this regard, the
Court considered first whether they could go behind the plaintiff’s evidence, there having
been no application to cross-examine the plaintiffs’ witnesses on their affidavits. The
Court of Appeal was persuaded that they could do so, principally because the plaintiff’s
own evidence disclosed documents of the type which the Court would have expected to
be in Mr. Axford’s destroyed files and which were the type of document, in the opinion
of the Court of Appeal, which could prove vital in cross-examination of the plaintiff’s
witnesses on the “all important question of their knowledge”. The Court of Appeal also
concluded that Mr. Axford’s own affidavit evidence showed that documents relating to
the issues in the case would have been expected to be found on the destroyed files. Lloyd
LJ concluded (pp 12-13) as follows:
“In the light of those three considerations, the judge was, in my view, fully
entitled to find that there was a serious risk that essential documents may have
been destroyed in this case, as a result of which a fair trial of the action is no
longer possible, that being the test which he had been invited to apply. He was
therefore entitled to hold that the appropriate response was to Strike out the
plaintiff’s claim. At all events it cannot be said that the judge was plainly wrong
in doing so. In reaching that conclusion I assume in the plaintiff’s favour that the
destruction of the documents was, as Mr Axford says, merely inadvertent. So on
that short ground I would dismiss the appeal.
There was, however, some discussion and argument before us as to what would
have been the position if the documents had been destroyed in knowing disregard
of the plaintiffs’ obligation as to discovery. I find some difficulty in seeing how, if

the sole question is whether a fair trial can still be held, the conduct of the
plaintiffs in destroying the documents, whether it was merely inadvertent or
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whether it was in knowing disregard of their obligation as to discovery and
therefore more blameworthy, can be fitted into the equation. But the question
does not arise in the present case. It will need careful consideration when it does

arise.

The Arrow Nominees case before the English Court of Appeal in 2000 concerned, in

brief summary, the question whether an unfair prejudice petition brought under the UK

Companies Act 1985 should be struck out on the ground that disclosure of forged

documents made a fair trial impossible. There were two applications by the respondents

to strike out the petition, the first prior to the hearing of the petition and the second during

the hearing of the petition. In the leading judgment Chadwick LJ (now President of the

Cayman Islands Court of Appeal) explained (page 182) the first application to strike out

as follows:

“30

The revelation that disclosed documents had been falsified led the
Blackledge respondents to apply to strike out the petition. The hearing of
that application before FEvans-Lombe J extended over three days,
concluding on 25 October 1999. In the judgment which he handed down
on 2 November 1999, the judge referred to Nigel Tobias’ actions as
“conduct of the most profound dishonesty, involving what was obviously a
careful and deliberate strategy on his part to perpetrate a fraud on the
Court” ........... vt veewee.. But the judge was not satisfied that what
was presented to hzm as the past conduct of Nigel Tobias justified the
Draconian course which he was being invited to take, namely, to strike
out the petition.”

In addition to the comments already quoted, Chadwick LJ said:

4.

.. for my part, 1
would allow the appeal on a second, and additional ground. I adopt as a
general principal, the observations of Millett J in [the Logicrose case],

that the object of the rules as to discovery is to secure the fair trial of the
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action in accordance with the due process of the court; and that,
accordingly, a party is not to be deprived of his right to a proper trial as a
penalty for disobedience of [sic] those rules, even if such disobedience
amounts to contempt for or defiance of the Court, if that object is
ultimately secured, by (for example) the late production of a document

which has been withheld. ..................

In my view, having heard and disbelieved the evidence of Nigel Tobias as
to the extent of his fraudulent conduct, and having reach the conclusion
(as he did) that Nigel Tobias was persisting in his object of frustrating a
fair trial, the judge ought to have considered whether it was fair to the
respondents, and in the interests of the administration of justice generally,
to allow the trial to continue. If he had considered that question, then, as
it seems to me, he should have come to the conclusion that it must be
answered in the negative. A decision to stop the trial in those
circumstances is not based on the Courts desire (or any perceived need) to
punish the party concerned; rather, it is a proper and necessary response
where a party has shown that his object is not to have the fair trial which
it is the Courts function to conduct, but to have a trial the fairness of

which he has attempted (and continues to attempt) to compromise.

To suggest that the basis on which the Court acts, when deciding to strike
out a petition on the ground that there is a substantial risk that a fair trial
has become impossible as the result of a petitioner’s conduct, is founded
upon the Courts determination that a petitioner of whose conduct it
disapproves should be denied discretionary relief is to misunderstand the

position in a fundamental Fespect. ................c.ec e iiiie s e e
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.......... I should not leave the matter without this comment. The judge’s
observation, in the final paragraph of his first judgment, that “if in the
course of the trial further evidence emerges that .... other documents have
been suppressed or fraudulently altered, the application to strike out can
then be renewed and is highly likely to be successful” must be taken to
have led, in some measure, to the trial thereafter taking the course that it
did. It seems to me that it may well be more satisfactory, in a case where
there has been admitted forgery or destruction of relevant documents, to
decide, on the application to strike out, whether the full extent of the
fraudulent conduct has been revealed, even if that requires oral evidence
at that stage. The judge recognised that cross-examination could have
been sought on the application in October 1999. It is, of course, a matter
of case management for the judge in each case whether to invite cross-
examination on an interlocutory application, or to leave the point until
trial. But I venture to suggest that a judge faced with an application to
strike out in circumstances such as those in the present case ought to
address the question whether the better course would not be to resolve the
issue, before the trial begins (or perhaps, as a preliminary issue at the
start of the trial), whether full disclosure of the fraudulent conduct has
been made. If, in the absence of cross-examination, the judge cannot
resolve that issue at the interlocutory stage, then he is left in the position
that he cannot be confident that there is no substantial risk that the trial (if
it proceeds) will be a fair trial. Indeed, he can be reasonably confident
that it would be unfair, in the sense that it will give rise to a detailed
examination of issued which ought not, properly, to be occupying the time
of the Court at the trial. If on the other hand, he is able to resolve that

issue before trial (after cross-examination if necessary), then it will not
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require further investigation at the trial. If the judge is satisfied, in the
light of what he accepts is full disclosure, that there is no substantial risk
that the admitted forgery or destruction of documents will lead to a result
which is unsafe then he will allow the trial to proceed. But, if he is not
satisfied that there has been full and frank disclosure of the fraudulent
conduct, then, for the reason which I have already given, it seems to me
that the correct response is to refuse to allow the party in default from

taking any further part in the proceedings, with whatever consequences

follow from that.”

Ward LJ, although making some comments of his own, principally about the overriding
objective in the English CPR, expressly agreed with the judgment of Chadwick LJ as did

Roche L.

The Douglas v Hello! application was heard by the Hon Vice-Chancellor in the English

Chancery Division in January 2003. The plaintiffs applied for an order that the defences
of the Hello! defendants should be struck out and judgment entered against them for
damages to be assessed pursuant to the relevant rule of the CPR (rule 3.4(2)) or the
inherent jurisdiction of the Court. The grounds for the application were that the Hello!

defendants:

“1) made or caused to be made false statements to the Court of Appeal in November
2000 knowingly or without an honest belief in their truth and

2) deliberately destroyed or disposed of documents, and

3) Made false disclosure statements knowingly, or without an honest belief in their
truth and have thereby interfered with the course of justice by so doing and/or have

thereby put the fairness of the trial in jeopardy, and rendered any judgment that may
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be entered in their favour unsafe and further proceedings unsatisfactory and

prevented the Court from doing justice.

It should be noted that the hearing of the application took place prior to the trial of the

merits of the action and also that there was cross-examination of four witnesses in the

course of the hearing. The plaintiffs substantive claim was for damages for breach of

confidentiality and privacy arising out of the proposed unauthorized publication of

photographs of their wedding. With regard to the question of alleged destruction of

documents by and the failure of the Hello! defendants to give proper disclosure the Vice

Chancellor said:

“35

That is by no means the end of the story relevant to the application before
me. [ also have to consider the subsequent events both with regard to the
destruction of documents and the failure of the Hello! Defendants to give
proper disclosure. Neither is denied but the Hello! Defendants seek to
minimize the importance of what occurred. No criticism is made of
Charles Russell, the solicitors acting then or now for the Hello!
Defendants or any of them. Accordingly I assume that they complied with
their professional responsibility, as pointed out by Sir Robert Megarry V-
C in Rockwell Machine Tool Co Ltd v Barrus [1968] 2 AER 97, 98,

“to ensure that their clients appreciate at an early stage of the litigation,
promptly after writ issued, not only the duty of discovery and its width but
also the importance of not destroying documents which might by any
possibility have to be disclosed. This burden extends, in my judgment, to
taking steps to emsure that in any corporate organization knowledge of

this burden is passed on to any who may be affected by it”.

Page 47 of 66



O 0 N3 N R W N -

NN N NN NN N RN N NN /o e e e e e e e e
O 0 3 & »n A W NN = OO NN N R LW NN = O

W
()

There can be no doubt that that statement applies to electronic messages in the

same way as it applies to hard copies, CPR Rule 31.4.

36

39.

43.

The basis of the claimants’ complaint, which is admitted, is that the Hello!
Defendants failed to preserve any document in electronic form and
destroyed or failed to preserve all or most of the documents, original or
copied, passing between them and the Marquesa. Such documents have
been disclosed by the Marquesa insofar as she has them or copies of them.
What is not available are the versions formerly in the possession of the
Hello! Defendants or any version of a document not disclosed by the

Marquesa. ... ...

........ The originals of these documents were destroyed by Hello! and
Hola. Thus any information contained in the originals, such as any notes

of the recipients have been irretrievably [0St............cc.cc oot e e e,

The Hello! Defendants gave formal disclosure of documents on four
0CCasions... ... ... It is not in dispute that this and each subsequent
disclosure was defective in the respects relied on by the claimants in
schedule C to their application form. The defective disclosure stems from
the failure of the Hello! Defendants to retain the documents to which I
have referred and the deletion of e-mails from all their computers. Save in
relation to e-mails sent or received before 21 November 2000, there is no
evidence that such destruction or disposal of a document took place before

the proceedings had been commenced.”

48. Having considered various other issues before him the Vice-Chancellor then considered

the allegations relating to the destruction or disposal of relevant documents and said:
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Part B of the schedule to the application contains the details with regard
to the allegations concerning the destruction or disposal of documents. As
I have already recorded in paragraph 36 above the details are not in
dispute. There is, however a distinction to be drawn between those which
were destroyed or disposed of before these proceedings were commenced
and those which were destroyed or disposed of thereafter. With regard to
the former category it is established in the very recent decision in the
Court of Appeal for the State of Victoria in British American Tobacco
Australia Services Ltd v Cowell and McCabe [2002] VSCA 197 paras 173

and 175 that the criterion for the Court’s intervention of the type sought
on this application is whether that destruction or disposal amounts to an
attempt to pervert the course of justice. There being no English authority
on this point I propose to apply that principal, not only because the
decision of the Court of Appeal for the State of Victoria is persuasive

authority but because I respectfully consider it to be right.

The documents which fall into this category are the e-mails passing
between the personnel in the Hello! Defendants’ offices and others. The
solicitor for the Hello! Defendants have stated that “as with many other e-
mail systems, e-mails are deleted once read”. Plainly the deletion of such
documents cannot justify the Court’s intervention. Nor insofar as any
other type of document concerned is there any evidence to suggest that
pre-action documents were destroyed in an attempt to pervert the course

of justice.
Thus the material disposals or destructions are those made after the

effective commencement of proceedings on 20 November 2000. These

COmpYise... ... ... Such destruction was plainly deliberate in the sense
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that it is not suggested to have been accidental. But was it more than

that?

The issues are whether the rules have been transgressed, if so whether a
fair trial is achievable and if not what to do about it. See [the Logicrose

case and the Arrow Nominees case and the reference to the judgment of

Chadwick LJ to which I have already referred above]........

ver oo The destruction or disposal of the documents cannot have been
due to muddle or misunderstanding. If the solicitors had properly
discharged their responsibilities as specified in paragraph 35 above,
which I have assumed, then such destruction or disposal was
blameworthy. If they did not discharge such responsibility then the
individuals, such as Mrs Doughty, may not be blameworthy but that does
not mean that the Hello! Defendants can escape the consequences. The
Jailure to give proper disclosure is a breach of the obligation of the Hello!
Defendants for which they are responsible even if the fault lay elsewhere.
The question remains whether by their conduct, in the words of the

application, the Hello! Defendants

“have thereby interfered with the course of justice by so doing
and/or have thereby put the fairness of the trial in jeopardy, and
rendered any judgment that may be entered in their favour unsafe
and further proceedings unsatisfactory and prevented the Court

from doing justice”.

.. the documents known to have been disposed of or destroyed,

except (but subject to inspection of whatever Mr Ramey has disclosed) the
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photographs in digital format, have now been supplied by the other party
to the communication. What is not available are the originals or copies of
the documents destroyed which had been in the possession of the Hello!
Defendants. Such documents may or may not have had notes on them
made by the recipient or sender respectively. Equally there is not now
available any other document destroyed or disposed of.  But what

evidence is there that there were any?

This is the conundrum. [ have given anxious consideration to whether |
should, on a balance of probability, infer from the conduct of the Hello!
defendants to which I have referred that there were further material

undisclosed documents. [ consider that I should. ..........

But does that inference justify striking out the whole or any part of the
defence of the Hello! Defendants. As stated by Millett J in [the Logicrose

case]

“I do not think that it would be right to drive a litigant from the
judgment seat without a determination of the issues as a
punishment for his conduct, however, deplorable, unless there was
a real risk that that conduct would render the further conduct of
proceedings unsatisfactory. The Court must always guard itself
against the temptation of allowing its indignation to lead to a

miscarriage of justice.”
There can be no question, for example, of excusing the claimants from

proof of other parts of their case by striking out the whole of the defence
of the Hello! Defendants.
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Having considered specific paragraphs of the claim and also referred to the ability of the

[trial] judge to draw inferences, the Vice-Chancellor said:

“104. Accordingly, notwithstanding conduct attributable to the Hello!
Defendants which leaves a very great deal to be desired with regard to the
veracity of their evidence and the adequacy of their disclosure I am not
persuaded that a fair trial is no longer possible or that the deficiencies in
the conduct of the defence of the Hello! Defendants justify an order

striking out the whole or any part of it”.

And accordingly the Vice-Chancellor inter alia made no order on the application of the

claimants for an order striking out the defences of the Hello! Defendants.

49 T will seek to draw conclusions on the various principles to be derived from these
authorities but before doing so I consider it appropriate that I should also refer to the well

known passage on the nature of discovery in The Compagnie Financiere et Commerciale

Du Pacifique v The Peruvian Guano Company (1882) 11 QBD 55 (“the Peruvian Guano

case”) which was cited to me. In that case Baggallay LJ said (at page 59):

“I assent to the suggestion made by Breft LJ in the course of the argument, that a
document which, it is not unreasonable to suppose, may tend to either advance the
case of the party seeking discovery, or to damage the case of his adversary, should be

regarded as a document relating to a matter in question in the action.”

And Brett LJ said (at page 62):

“The party swearing the affidavit is bound to set out all documents in his possession

or under his control relating to any matters in question in the action. Then comes
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this difficulty: what is the meaning of that definition? What are the documents which
are documents relating to any matter in question in the action? In Jones v Monte

Video Gas Co [5 QBD 556] the Court stated its desire to make the rule as to the

affidavit of documents as elastic as was possible. And I think that that is the view of
the Court both as to the sources from which the information can be derived and as to
the nature of the documents. We desire to make the rule as large as we can with due
regard to propriety; and therefore I desire to give as large an interpretation as I can
to the words of the rule, “a document relating to any matter in question in the

’

GICLIOM. 7 e e e e e e e e e e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e s

The doctrine seems to me to go further than that and to go as far as the principle
which I am about to lay down. It seems to me that every document relates to the
matters in question in the action, which not only would be evidence upon any issue,
but also which it is reasonable to suppose contains information which may — not
which must — either directly or indirectly enable the party requiring the affidavit
either to advance his own case or to damage the case of his adversary. I have put it
in the words, “either directly or indirectly” because, as it seems to me, a document
can properly be said to contain information which may enable the party requiring the
affidavit either to advance his own case or to damage the case of his adversary, if it is
a document which may fairly lead him to a train of enquiry, which may have either of

those two consequences... .....

50 Clearly, none of the judgments from which I have recited extracts above were based on

factual circumstances which are the same as those in the present case (although perhaps

the circumstances in the Douglas v Hello! case are closest to the present situation), and a
Judge’s exercise of discretion in determining whether or not to strike out a party’s claim
or defence will, of course inevitably depend upon the particular circumstances. However,

it has been clearly accepted in this jurisdiction, following the English authorities, that
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firstly, in circumstances where a party has failed to meet its discovery obligations it is not
the function of the Court to punish the party in default by striking out that party’s claim
or defence, but that the issue for the Court is whether the consequence of such default is
that there is a real or substantial risk that a fair trial of the action is no longer possible.
The issue is whether the defaulting party’s conduct has put the fairness of the trial in
jeopardy such that there is a serious risk that any judgment in favour of that party would
have to be considered unsafe. As Millett J said as approved by the Vice-Chancellor, the
Court does not strike out the claim or defence because it disapproves of the party’s
conduct but because the Court is satisfied that the party’s conduct has resulted in a
substantial risk to the fairness of a trial. It is also clear that the proportionality of the
sanction of striking out in the particular circumstances must be taken into consideration
and that it is not right to drive a litigant from the judgment seat as a punishment for his
conduct, however deplorable, unless there is a consequent real risk that further conduct of
the proceedings would be unsatisfactory and the fairness of a trial seriously questionable.
Furthermore, in considering the destruction of relevant documents a distinction is to be
drawn between such destruction prior to the commencement of the relevant proceedings
and such destruction after the commencement of the relevant proceedings. As far as
destruction prior to the commencement of the relevant proceedings is concerned the
justification for the involvement of the Court is whether such destruction amounted to an
attempt to pervert the course of justice. Lastly, the question whether or not there should
be cross-examination on the affidavits filed in such a strike out application is, in practice,

a question of case management and will depend on the precise circumstances.
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It seems to me that in light of these general principles, at the end of the day the principal
questions which I must answer in this particular case are whether the Renova Parties have
failed to comply with their discovery obligations and, if so, whether the consequence of
that is that there is a substantial risk that a fair trial of the merits of the case is not
possible. That is, of course, a considerable generalization of the issues arising but is

nonetheless ultimately what, in my view, requires to be determined.

Comments and Conclusions

Having heard the submissions of Leading counsel for the parties and reading again the
affidavit evidence submitted by or on behalf of the Renova Parties in opposition to the
application, my initial view expressed in my Ex Tempore Ruling of 30 November that
seemed to me that there was an obvious lack of discovery by the Renova Parties has not
substantially changed. In my view their own evidence shows there has been a serious
disregard by the Renova Parties of their need to preserve documents arising from their
obligation to give discovery in these proceedings. This is exemplified by the fact that
Mr. Mamaev, a member of the Renova Group IT staff, who reported directly to Mr.
Grosset, the Head of the Renova Group IT department, and who regularly travelled from
Moscow to Zurich to deal with IT matters there, was not made aware, until sometime in
the second week of December 2010, even of the existence of these proceedings and, even
then, he was given no details of the 30 November Order or its implications. If he had no
knowledge until then of these proceedings it is reasonable to assume he had no
knowledge of the need to ensure or even apply his mind to the preservation of data

potentially relevant to the issues in dispute in these proceedings at least from May 2008.
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My overall impression of the evidence filed by the Renova Parties in response to the
Gilbertson Parties strike out application is that notwithstanding the legal advice
concerning discovery given to them in January 2007 and again in October 2009, (which
itself seems to me to have been surprisingly late in the day), there was a complete
disregard by the Renova Group of the need to preserve all relevant documents, including
the potential sources of such documents for discovery purposes. The Zurich server crash
shortly before these proceedings were commenced was obviously unfortunate. However
the steps taken thereafter to destroy over time all the possible alternative sources of e-
mail or other electronic data, some of which may well have been relevant to these
proceedings, to my mind amounts to a complete lack of consideration for and disregard
of the need to preserve all potential sources of relevant documents. It is no answer for the
Renova Parties to say that the proposed investment in the Rights was but a very small
part of the Renova Groups business nor, in my view, is it good enough simply to say that
the Renova Group’s own IT department were themselves unable to access data from
these alternative sources as a justification for their destruction in light of their discovery
obligations. The evidence of the IT experts is that if such alternative sources had not
been destroyed it probably would have been possible to reconstitute and access data from
those sources yet the Renova Group did not consult any such expert until effectively
compelled to do so by the indications given by the Court at the hearing which led to the

Ex Tempore Ruling and the 30 November Order.
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As I have already summarized it was argued strenuously on behalf of the Renova Group

that no obligation to preserve documents which are relevant or potentially relevant to the
proceedings arises until an order for discovery is made. I do not accept that submission
and in my view it is not supported by the authorities which were cited to me. The crucial
distinction is the position prior to the commencement of proceedings and the position
after the proceedings have commenced. The approach adopted in England (see the

Douglas v Hello! case adopting the approach of the Australian British America Tobacco

case, to which I have referred above) is that the relevant question in the case of
destruction or disposal of documents before proceedings are commenced is whether that
amounted to an attempt to pervert the course of justice. However, the issue for the
Court’s determination in respect of destruction or disposal of relevant documents after
proceedings have commenced is whether such destruction or disposal has caused a

substantial risk that a fair trial is no longer possible.

There is no evidence in this case, and Leading counsel for the Gilbertson Parties did not
submit, that the steps taken by the Renova Group in destroying all the potential sources of
relevant documents, although clearly deliberate, amounted to an attempt to pervert the

course of justice. Accordingly, on the authority of the British American Tobacco case,

which I can see no good reason for not accepting as representing the law of the Cayman
Islands also, it would appear that any destruction of documents prior to the
commencement of these proceedings in May 2008 would not itself justify the Courts’
intervention of the nature applied for by the Gilbertson Parties. However, I consider that

it can legitimately be said that the issue in this case is rather broader than that because,
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firstly, the Renova Parties, through their Chief Legal Officer and their Deputy Chief
Legal Officer were advised in January 2007, when these proceedings were clearly in
contemplation, of the need to preserve relevant documents and, secondly, because the
deliberate destruction of all the potential sources of relevant documents by the Renova
Parties which took place subsequent to the computer crash and subsequent, or
substantially subsequent, to the commencement of these proceedings, was carried out in
the light of the legal advice given in January 2007. I have therefore concluded that this
is a case in which the deliberate destruction of all potential sources of relevant
documents, established on the affidavit evidence of the Renova Parties, is prima facie
blameworthy and culpable. However, before turning to whether or not the consequence
of that is to create a serious risk that a fair trial is not possible, I should first deal with
several of the other issues which were the subject of argument, as I have already

generally summarised.

The Gilbertson Parties’ strike out application is grounded firstly on GCR 0.24,r.20 and,
in the alternative, on the inherent jurisdiction of the Court. It was argued on behalf of the
Renova Parties that GCR O.24, r.20 is not applicable in the circumstances of this case
because, it was contended, the Court has not made an order for discovery against the
Renova Parties with which they have failed to comply. They also argue that the Court
has no inherent jurisdiction because GCR 0.24, r.20 codifies the circumstances in which
the Court may strike out a party’s action on the ground of that party’s failure to comply
with its discovery obligations and limits such obligations to compliance with a Court

order for discovery. In this regard some reliance was placed upon the fact that GCR
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0.24, 1.20 is slightly narrower in ambit than the equivalent Supreme Court Rule in
England (RSC O. 24, r.16), which refers to failure to comply with any requirement of the
rules as well as of any order made thereunder, whereas Order 24, 1.20 of the GCR only
refers to failure to comply with an order for discovery and does not refer to non-
compliance with the rules. Leading counsel for the Renova Parties contended that
paragraph 3 of the 30 November Order, requiring preservation of documents and of all
relevant IT equipment, was not an order for discovery in the sense referred to in GCR
0.24, 1.20 even if, which was not admitted, there was a breach of that paragraph of the
Order by virtue of the destruction of the logical drive of the failed Zurich server as

referred to above subsequent to the Order.

I would be very loathe to accept that in circumstances such as these, the Court was
powerless to regulate its own process in respect of discovery, in order to be able to ensure
a fair trial and justice generally, if not inconsistent and in keeping with the rules. In my
view the provisions of GCR .24, r.20 are capable of being interpreted widely enough to
include an order for the preservation of documents and of the IT sources of documents so
as to enable proper discovery. Such a preservation order is clearly not an order made
pursuant to or governed by GCR .29, which relates to the preservation of the subject
matter of a cause or matter. The documents, or potential documents, in issue here are
documents which are or maybe discoverable as relevant to the issues in the case. They
are not the subject matter of the proceedings as the documents were, for example, in the
TMSF case. In my opinion paragraph 3 of the 30 November Order was clearly an

ancillary part of the discovery process and was properly made in light of the Renova
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Group’s obligations arising at least since commencement of the proceedings to preserve
and not to destroy potentially discoverable documents or the sources thereof as part of the
requirements of their discovery. Clearly those obligations were recognized by the
Renova Group’s own Cayman Islands attorneys and London solicitors in advising them
of the need to preserve relevant documents in January 2007 and again in October 2009.
In light of the terms of the original 20 July Order and of the 30 November Order I
consider that the Gilbertson Parties’ application may be considered to fall within the
terms of GCR 0.24, r.20. Furthermore, and in the alternative, I am anyway of the
opinion, as | have already suggested, that this Court does have an inherent jurisdiction to
ensure fair and proper practice as between the parties as far as discovery is concerned,
with a view to achieving a fair trial and a just outcome to the disputes between them.
Discovery is a fundamental part of our trial process and, as I said in the Ex Tempore
Ruling, it is essential in order for justice to be done and seen to be done by a fair and just
trial of the issues. The test for relevance to the issues is extremely broad (see the

Peruvian Guano case). 1 have also already said on previous occasions in these

proceedings that I consider that this is a case which, if the parties cannot resolve their
differences by some other means, should go to trial and the parties respective claims
determined after full discovery and oral evidence with cross examination in the usual way
(see for example Ruling (3) dated 5" May 2010 at page 21). An inherent jurisdiction in
the Court to control its own process in this respect and to prevent the destruction of
documents or the likely sources of documents which are or maybe relevant to the issues
does not, in my view, in such circumstances, contravene the principle established by the

Court of Appeal in HSH Cayman 1 GP Limited et al v ABN Amro Bank NV (1) [2010]
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(1) CILR 114. An inherent jurisdiction of the Court to intervene in circumstances where
there is prima facie a culpable failure to observe the fundamentals of proper discovery,
quite apart from the provisions of GCR 0.24, r.20, is not inconsistent with that or the
other relevant rules. Indeed, the unchallenged order made at paragraph 3 of the 30
November Order, for the preservation of potentially relevant documents and the IT
equipment on which potential relevant data is likely to be stored is, it seems to me, itself
an exercise of such inherent jurisdiction. In this regard, I note also that in the Douglas v
Hello! case the Learned Vice-Chancellor stated, without any adverse comment, that the
strike out application in that case was also founded, in the alternative, upon the inherent
jurisdiction of the Court. I do not accept the submissions made on behalf of the Renova
Parties to the effect that this Court does not have jurisdiction in the circumstances of this
case to strike out the Plaintiff’s claim and the defence to the counterclaim should it
consider it appropriate, in the interests of justice and, in the exercise of its discretion, to

do so.

Leading counsel for the Renova Parties also submitted that a party should not be
permitted to go behind the other party’s discovery affidavit. Although no application was
made by the Gilbertson Parties for cross-examination of the Renova Parties’ deponents
on their affidavits, Leading counsel for the Renova Parties argued also that no such cross-
examination should anyway be permitted, at least at an interlocutory stage such as this. It
was contended on behalf of the Gilbertson Parties that, although they did not consider it
necessary, it was open to the Court to order such cross-examination if the Court felt

unable or unwilling to determine their strike out application on the basis of affidavit
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evidence without cross-examination. [ accept that in appropriate circumstances the Court
could direct cross-examination if it considered it necessary and appropriate, although I
also accept that such a requirement would, on an interlocutory application such as this, be
very unusual. In light of the final conclusion which I have reached, as explained below, |

have not thought it necessary to consider the question of cross-examination any further.

As far as the question of going behind a discovery affidavit is concerned, reference was
made to the judgment of Stuart-Smith LJ in the unreported English case of Fayed v

Lonrho ple (No. 3) (CA 14" June 1993). However, in the present case the Renova Parties

have not only filed affidavits verifying their Further and Better Lists of Documents
pursuant to the 30 November Order (or, in the case of the individual Renova Parties, the 7
April Order) but they have filed a significant number of affidavits, not only by the
individual Renova Parties themselves but also by other relevant individuals within the
Renova Group, such as Mr. Cheremikin, Mr. Kalberer, Mr. Grosset and Mr. Mamaev, as
well as reports by their independent IT experts, directly in response to the Gilbertson
Parties’ strike out application. In my view, whatever the principle may be in relation to
going behind an affidavit filed solely for the purpose of verifying a list of documents,
there is no such principle in relation to affidavits of the nature and for the purpose

submitted by the Renova Parties in opposition to the present strike out application.

Even if I am justified in my conclusion, on the basis of the affidavit evidence submitted
by or on behalf of the Renova Parties, that there was deliberate destruction of potential

sources of relevant e-mails, and that prima facie such destruction was in the
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circumstances blameworthy, it is well established that any consequent intervention by the
Court should not be in the nature of punishment of the offending party. The issue for
determination by the Court in such circumstances is whether as a consequence of the
offending party’s culpable failure to comply with his discovery obligations there is a
substantial risk that a fair trial is no longer possible. As Sir Andrew Morrit VC re-

iterated in the Douglas v Hello! case, citing Millett J in the Logicrose case: the Court

must always guard itself against the temptation of allowing its indignation to lead to a
miscarriage of justice. Millett J said earlier in the Logicrose case in a passage adopted

as correct by the Court of Appeal in the Arrow Nominees Inc case a litigant is not to be

deprived of his right to a fair trial because of failures in his discovery obligations — even
where that was deliberate and amounted to a contempt of Court — unless his conduct

rendered (or there is a real risk that it rendered) a fair trial impossible.

As I have already indicated, this is not a case like the TMSF case, where the potential
documents lacking from the Renova Group’s discovery, of which any possible recovery
has been destroyed by them, are fundamental to the resolution of the issues in dispute. In
the present case, any such documents, if they had been recovered and discovered, would
no doubt have been a helpful source of cross-examination of the Renova Parties’
witnesses but they would not have been fundamental to the resolution of the parties’
respective cases. The parties, of course, as | have said, anyway dispute the extent to
which the whole history of relations between them as put forward by the Gilbertson
Parties is necessary for and relevant to the Court’s final determination of the essential

issues in the case in any event. However, even if the Gilbertson Parties’ more extensive
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approach to the issue to be determined is adopted, 1 find it difficult to see how internal
communications between the Renova Parties themselves and between them and other
individuals in the Renova Group could be determinative of those issues. It seems to me
that the resolution of most, if not all, of the issues in dispute will largely turn upon the
consequences of largely undisputed factual actions and the legal analysis of those actions.
There is little, if any, dispute about what actually happened and what the parties did or
did not do, in respect of which it seems that the relevant inter partes correspondence and
other relevant documents are all available. What the parties said internally as between
themselves is, in this case, in my judgment, of secondary importance and in some

instances not relevant or even possibly not even admissible anyway.

It should not be overlooked in this context that a trial of these proceedings will involve
witness statements, oral evidence and cross-examination in respect of which the Court
may draw such inferences as it considers the whole evidence and the circumstances
justify in reaching its final conclusions. The absence of discoverable documentation may
possibly make cross-examination of the Renova Parties’ witnesses more difficult for the
Gilbertson Parties but I am not satisfied that it would not prejudice them to the extent that
a fair trial would not be possible or that there would be a substantial risk that a fair trial
would not be possible. It was submitted on behalf of the Renova Parties that there is no
evidence that there was in fact any relevant e-mail or other data on the crashed Zurich
sever (and a fortiori, on the encrypted and unencrypted back-up tapes, the
decommissioned Moscow server or the deleted logical drive). Having regard to what, in

my view, are the more likely probabilities in the overall circumstances, namely that on a
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balance of probabilities there would have been relevant e-mails on the Zurich server, it
does seem to me nevertheless equally improbable that any such e-mail data, even if it was
made available, would be determinative of the issues between the parties or that the

absence thereof would lead to a miscarriage of justice.

To strike out a party’s action or defence at an interlocutory stage is clearly a very strong
step. It obviously deprives the party concerned of the opportunity to present and argue
his claim or defence on the merits for what are, after all, procedural reasons. That should
only be done, in my view, where the risk of injustice to the other party in proceeding with
the trial without such discovery is serious and substantial and clearly outweighs the
obvious injustice to the defaulting party concerned in having his claim or defence struck
out without consideration of its merits. Such a significant and prejudicial step must
clearly also be proportional to the seriousness of the default of the offending party and
the seriousness of its consequences. -Although in this case the Renova Parties do not
dispute that they deliberately destroyed all potential sources of internal communications
and other records (although they seek to justify that) and I consider, at least on a prima
facie basis, such actions to have been blameworthy and culpable, there is no application
for a finding of contempt of Court or of abuse of process. Notwithstanding my serious
concerns about the Renova Parties’ conduct with regard to discovery and, in particular
their destruction of all potential sources of discoverable documentation, I am not
persuaded that a fair trial of these proceedings is no longer possible or that there is a

substantial risk that that is so. Accordingly, I do not consider on balance that this is a case
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which warrants the striking out of the Plaintiff’s action or the Renova Parties’ defence to

the counterclaim. I therefore refuse the Gilbertson Parties’ application.

Costs

63 Although I have refused the Gilbertson Parties’ application, it seems to me that the
inappropriate conduct of the Renova Parties is responsible for the legitimate concerns,
which [ share, about their discovery.  Accordingly, in the somewhat unusual
circumstances here, I would, subject to my comment below, order that the costs of and
incidental to this application should be costs in the cause. However, [ am conscious that I
have not heard any argument on costs and therefore, if counsel for the parties do not
accept that this is an appropriate order in the circumstances, I will hear submissions on

costs at a later date.

O

The Hon. Mr. Justice Angus Foster
5™ August 2011 Judge of the of Grand Court
Financial Service Division
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